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OPENING REMARKS BY CHAIRWOMAN
JUSTICE MRS. WADE-MILLER

CHAIRWOMAN:

Good morning, everyone.  We are about to begin by recalling Dr. McDowall.  Good morning, Dr. McDowall. 

WITNESS:


Good morning, everybody.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you for making yourself available again at short notice. Counsel Ms. Susan Mulligan will explain to you why she wanted to recall you but, in short, she just wanted to – you to amplify – or explain a few things that you have probably written.  
So, thank you for being here. 

WITNESS:


Pleasure. 

CHAIRWOMAN:

Mrs. Mulligan? 

And we are going to ask that you be re-sworn because it has been some time since you took your oath and testified.  Mrs. Mulligan?
SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, thank you.  I understand that you have a bible in front of you, and we will administer the oath.  Turn on that mic.

(WITNESS, MR. MCDOWALL, IS SWORN IN BY MRS DYER-TUCKER)

SR. COUNSEL:

Thank you.  Good morning, Dr. McDowall.

WITNESS:


Good morning.

SR. COUNSEL:

I appreciate you agreeing to appear before the Commission again.  I have read your evidence and your report with great interest.  And the reason why I asked that you be made available again, is to further explore some of the issues you touched on, but I didn't feel were fully flashed out.  

So, I appreciate your attendance and your time and your expertise.  And I just wanted to clarify on that point:  On your expertise.  It appeared to me from reading your CV and reading your evidence, that your area of expertise is really economic history, or how would you coin it?

WITNESS:


I would describe it as economic, business and political history.  That is what I’ve taught and what I generally wrote about.  And my expertise in the private sector was as a consultant with the Conference Board and as a Commissioner for the Canadian Federal Government in political affairs.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  Thank you, I appreciate that.  And you have, obviously, a familiarity and an affinity for Bermuda, correct?  

WITNESS:


Very much so.  

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  I want to talk to you about both the Tucker's Town and the St. David's expropriations because I think you touched on both in your evidence.  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And I would like to start with the Tucker's Town expropriation.  You spoke about that at some length and, if I can encapsulate -you correct me if I'm wrong – while you admitted, or agreed, that it was perhaps not the fairest of processes because of the power imbalance involved between the residents and the people doing the expropriations, you nevertheless felt that it was for, in the end of the day, history would say it benefited all of Bermuda.  Is that fair?  

WITNESS:


That's fair enough.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

I mean, it's simplistic, I realize, but that's roughly what you said.  With respect to the Tucker's Town, and even – and the St. David's expropriations – I think you also agreed that your paper wasn't empirically based, the way that Dr. Swan and Dr. Francis had gotten into the archives, you hadn't had that opportunity?
WITNESS:


Not immediately.  I was only notified of this possibility a few weeks ago.  I have spent a great deal of time in the Bermuda Archives, but not with this dedicated purpose.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  So – and I noted in your evidence, and we'll come to some of these examples – but, on several occasions, you said it was your intuition… it was your sense that something went this way or that way… but that's based on your educated knowledge of the times more than on empirically-based research.

WITNESS:


Intuition based on, now almost 25 years of writing about Bermuda – three books, maybe 30 or 40 articles – so one builds up in any field an intuition, as you say, for it.  But that intuition comes out of empirical experience in the archives or through interviews, Counsellor.

SR. COUNSEL:

I agree.  Normally that would be the case and, to some extent, that's the case here.  But, as you indicated, you didn't specifically do empirical research on Tucker's Town and St. David's expropriations.

WITNESS:


Only when they impinged on other things that I was interested in.  In the book on tourism, clearly Tucker's Town was a linchpin to Bermuda's subsequent development of tourism and, in articles on, say, Victoria Hayward from St. David's, I looked at the records of her property expropriation.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  And we are going to talk about the linchpin of tourism.  I'm going to give you a chance to come back to that but, just first of all, speaking with/about Tucker's Town:  Is it not the case that, in fact, the first plan was to have this exclusive resort playground, whatever you may want to call it, in Hamilton or near Hamilton?

WITNESS:


There were a number of locations mooted for it but, in the end, the key thing was to have it as an exclusive isolated community.  I likened it to a gated community now or, at that time in the gilded age, to the Tuxedo Park up the Hudson Valley, or the development of Florida this time, as exclusive patrician resorts.  

So it became apparent very quickly that this should be away from the centre of things in Bermuda, because the people they hoped would come were seeking a kind of a rural ‘table’.  You know, to be away from any kind of the practice of life which they were exposed to and had exploited in the United States.  

There was, of course, a paradox here:  Their money came from the Industrial Revolution in America and, all of that noted, now they wanted a retreat from it that detached them from that.  

So, a location like Tucker's Town or… you know, Cambridge Beaches, is out at the other end of Bermuda… because it was deliberately, you know, in a quiet end of Bermuda, so that the visitors would feel detached.  

So yes, but the ideal location was an isolated location, and Tucker's Town seemed to fit that bill.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  So initially, a location near Hamilton was considered, other locations were considered and, as you say, eventually Tucker's Town was settled upon.  And you/you've indicated that's because of this desire to have this isolated, well, white elite vacation spot.

WITNESS:


Yes.  And I think one could speculate here that, as they looked over the geography of Bermuda, a community such as Tucker's Town, which was relatively poor, relatively disconnected from the political structures of the Colony, was likely a more moveable destination than downtown, or near downtown Hamilton, with its commercial base, its transportation base, etc., etc.  It would have been much harder to uproot that.  

So, there was, I think, an unspoken appeal in Tucker's Town that this was a community that could be shifted.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And you say that one could speculate about that because the other reason why it was an easier community to shift was because it was an all - almost an all-black community – right?

WITNESS:


Yes.  But much went with that, as I mentioned.  That they probably lacked the political savvy or, call it what you wish, to engage a process.  And expropriation is always an unequal process between the power of the state and its proxies, and the individuals, or the community, being forced to dislocate.  

And I think they sensed that the gap was largest there between the power of what the Assembly wanted to do and the community being focused upon.  We're only speculating here and, as we know of the way the kind of mercantile elite worked in Bermuda, much of this must have been discussed, you know, over lunch or over dinner parties, that sort of thing.  There's very little record of it.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, yes.  And one gets that feeling if one looks back at Parliamentary records where there's very little discussion – this Bill is essentially just passed – there must've been some discussion somewhere else, right?

WITNESS:


Yes.  But not one captured for posterity.  By the way, a question was asked by one of the Commissioners last week about, going to the archives and seeking records of this expropriation.  I had the same experience as I expressed at that time, in the 1990s of asking:  Are there any records of this?  

And I was told by the archivists that they were not sure if they had ever come to the archives, or whether they had been misplaced.

And a few other instances of misplaced documents.  It's a very good archive, but these things happen.  So, I've been wondering about what kind of paper trail there was.  We know the newspapers gave some coverage and we got some case-by-case detail of that.  But one imagines that there must be/there must have been trial records because cheques were cut in the end, etc.  

Whether there was a verbatim record of the Commissioner's work, I doubt.  I think a 100 years ago, the nature of Government didn't lend itself to the kind of transcript of proceedings that we are so used to and I assume that your Commission is working on.  But it really/I had no intimate documentary access to it beyond the newspapers.

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  With respect to the/your evidence about this, you talked about expropriations in general.  And what interested me about that is you talked in part about your experience of expropriations in Canada – and I'm Canadian too.  

So, I share some of that historical knowledge with you.  And you particularly talked about comparing what happened here with, for instance, the expropriations along the St. Lawrence Seaway - St. Lawrence River – correct?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And I think that the point of your comparison was to say:  Look, sometimes we have to do these things in order to move a society forward to economic development, industrialization, that sort of thing.  Right?

WITNESS:


Exactly.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

It's interesting that you use the St. Lawrence Seaway as an example, because in that case, some 12,000 acres of land was taken from the Kahnawake First Nations, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes, indeed.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And the First Nations’ people were considered – even at that time in the 50s – I think, was the expropriation in that case, the 1950s, they were considered backwater, not well-educated, isolated, others.  Correct?

WITNESS:


Well, I can't say specifically to the St. Lawrence expropriation, but your characterization of the general attitude in Canada towards our aboriginal people – until the last decade or so – that would typify it.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  And I think you you/I think I read that you're originally from British Columbia.  

WITNESS:


I am.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  So there were a number of such situations – not necessarily expropriations – just land theft, from First Nations or Aboriginal peoples in Canada, in the British Columbia area, historically?

WITNESS:


Many of the native peoples in BC are not, in fact, treaty.  Most of the treaties are on the Prairies and the Northern Ontario, as you all know.  And that has been a blight on the relationship of the native peoples in British Columbia, and one that's proving very hard to resolve because we have so many bans, so many unsettled land claims that it is a very slow process.

SR. COUNSEL:

It is indeed.  But one of the things that you talked about, and I use that as a backdrop, because one of the things that you spoke to Mr. Whitehall about was how difficult it would be to sort of assess any kind of compensation.  Should the Commission find there was an inappropriate, or unlawful taking of land:  How difficult it would be to assess and compensate at this stage for that wrong.  Correct?

WITNESS:


Very much so.  I think given the sanctity of private property rights in our society, given the 100 years that this has taken place, it would be extremely hard to assess both the injury and those subject to compensation.  I mean, many families may have died out.  Would you pay money to cousins?  

What about, if people who had owned the land in the interim?  It would be a very difficult exercise to conduct.

SR. COUNSEL:

And as it has been:  In Canada, for instance, with native land claims, it has been a very difficult exercise but, in fact, it has been done in many cases.

WITNESS:


Yes.  Because you – in the case of our Aboriginal people, you have banned councils.  There is a form of Government within each particular ban that represents that ban, and you can deal with them, and reach a consensus and a settlement.  

I don't see that as easy here.  It would be a very meticulous exercise in genealogy.  It would excite all kinds of anxieties, I think, and tensions in that, at some point, you would have to draw a line on which other people would be the others on the other side of it, and that would promote jealousy and counterclaims, etc.

SR. COUNSEL:

It's not that much different, in that the Aboriginal land claims have experienced some similar problems, with people claiming to have Aboriginal ancestry in a certain banned, and in fact, they've had to try and prove it.  I mean, it's not that much different.

WITNESS:


It is for the maybe people in Canada who have intermarried tremendously over the years into the white community.  And similarly, with the native peoples, many have moved off reserves as you will know.  

So, the direct kind of linkage is not - they're very hard to prove.  But I agree, for many, you can make the direct connection.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  And you'd agree with me that, when we talk about compensation and trying to do some justice, it doesn't necessarily mean considering whether fair market value was paid, or wasn't paid at the time, and throwing a few pounds at someone.  That's not really what we're talking about, is it?

WITNESS:


No.  These solutions, that speak generally in Canada has been that, if you wish to acknowledge this, you make some kind of a token payment to indicate that some injustice was done.  

So, with the Japanese-Canadians – who were not expropriated actually – but simply driven off their land.  In the late 1980s, the Federal Government made a token payment to those they could connect with it.  

And then moved on to remedying the situation through education, an institute to study Japanese-Canadian relationships, etc.  

So, no one tried to engage in a kind of extrapolation of:  If it was worth this, 100 years ago, therefore it should be paid at this rate now.

SR. COUNSEL:

No.  And indeed, there was consideration of cultural loss, language loss, generational poverty created by the land loss, all kinds of considerations came into play, correct?

WITNESS:


Yes, but they were all remedy… the intention in remedying them was to look forward – through implanting our knowledge of this in the educational system, demonstrating it in the demonstration of our national culture, museums, dedicated to the fact, and also in the way our history is written.  

And we've had some very fine Japanese-Canadian authors like Ken Adachi, writing books that really worked their way into the national imagination, about the nature of that injustice which, again, I'd say was not an expropriation.  It was a feat by which they were driven off their land.

SR. COUNSEL:

But when we talk about claims for land rights of… and I don't want to go too far down the Canadian road… but just to give the Commission an example of what is possible in other locations, should they make certain findings.  

There were more than token payments.  The Aboriginal – some Aboriginal communities received upwards of $200 million.  

WITNESS:


Yes, yes.  Yes, indeed.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And some trust funds were created in perpetuity to assist those Aboriginal communities, to allow their members to develop businesses, education, different types of – different grants were given from the perpetual trust.  Right?

WITNESS:


Yes.  And a good example of that would be that – as you've mentioned – the money was delivered to the bans.  Some of it was delivered subsequently to individuals, but most of it was creatively developed – dedicated – to the collective interest.  A good example would be the Cree of Northern Quebec, who were displaced by a huge hydro development.  

And they took most of that money and invested it into their own corporation, the Makivik Corporation.  They run an airline; they provide service functions, etc.  It's very profitable, and it has been a tremendous boost for the Cree people.  We tend to talk about the Canadian Aboriginals as a generality.  Well, there's a huge variety of outcomes and sensibilities.  

The Cree are - perhaps this is from a white perspective – a success story, in that they have used the leverage of that settlement to really improve their lot in life.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  There are also, as you say, payments have been made to individuals, individual ancestors, or individual – sorry, newer generations, their ancestors having been members of the First Nations that lost land. 

So, and there have been, of course, educational and cultural programs to try and, I suppose, commemorate, memorialize, what took place, and see that it doesn't happen again.  

WITNESS:


Yes.  We've had/we are having - it's not past tense – a truth and reconciliation process with our native people, but it's going to take a long time, but it's certainly headed in the right direction.

SR. COUNSEL:

Absolutely.  We also can look at our situations here:  Tucker's Town and St. David's, from a Governmental fiduciary duty perspective.  Can we not?

WITNESS:


Yes.  Certainly, the process is engaged.  It had a fiduciary function of payment.

SR. COUNSEL:

Mm-hmm.  In your review of the materials surrounding the Tucker's Town appropriation, now I realize there's some crossover between the persons who had an interest in the project and the persons who are actually sitting in Parliament, right?

WITNESS:


Yes.  Very much so.

SR. COUNSEL:

So, they were the same group of people substantially.  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And so, in modern-day terms, and perhaps even then, we might consider that to be somewhat of a conflict of interest, correct?

WITNESS:


Oh yes.  Yes.
SR. COUNSEL:

That, when you're representing the people, doing/considering what is in the best interests of the country, and your constituents, including St. David Islanders and Tucker's Town residents, you may be conflicted by your own economic interests.

WITNESS:


Yes, and in our society today – I’m sure this is true in Bermuda – we have disclosure arrangements by which politicians have to either put their holdings in trust or disclose an interest, or a family interest, in the administration of the upcoming project.  That certainly wasn't the case 100 years ago – in Bermuda, or in Canada, or really anywhere.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, except for, in this case – in for instance, Tucker's Town – everybody knew the interest.  The Government was well aware that itself had many members interested in the project.  So, it wasn't a matter that it was hidden.  It was known.

WITNESS:


Yes., and that was ingrained in Bermuda from the 19th Century.  There was a mercantile elite that had clearly been in charge of Bermuda.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  Also ingrained in Bermuda from the 19th Century was a Parliamentary form of Government.  Right?

WITNESS:


Longer than that.  Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

Where the elected officials had a responsibility, or a fiduciary duty to look out for the interests of their constituents.

WITNESS:


Yes, yes.  I think they had, at times, a rather narrow definition of that interest of their constituents.  One could make the argument that women were – white and black – were excluded often from the purview of those – that group.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, they certainly were excluded from the ability to vote for a very long time.  

WITNESS:


Exactly.

SR. COUNSEL:

And just while we're there, in your readings from the newspaper – whatever sources you had about the Tucker's Town appropriation – did you discover, at any point, Government intervening, representing the people of Tucker's Town, making representations on their behalf to the company?

WITNESS:


No.  Well, for instance, take the example of Stanley Spurling who was a member, of course, for St. George's.  

Some of his constituents, or the people under his constituency, were not well-defended by him.  He refused to pay for petition through the Assembly, etc.  So, this was a democracy, a narrow colonial democracy.

The greatest common denominator - and that was trade, and property -and real estate.  That was their predominant sort of interest in making the democracy work.  It didn't have any of the social welfare functions that all of our democracies have in them now.

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  In your evidence that you gave on the previous occasion, you talked about two things that I wanted to follow up with you on.  

One being the agricultural nature of Tucker's Town, and you indicated that, you know, agriculture – it wasn't that great a land.  It was on the decline, as far as exports go.  And so, you pose the question:  What if this Castle Harbour had not happened?  What if they had stayed there, would they be able to sustain themselves?  Right?  

WITNESS:


That's right.  

SR. COUNSEL:

I was…

WITNESS:


It was flawed trends in Bermuda, not just Tucker's Town trends, but yes, I agree.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  So, you were saying that… Did you have any understanding from any empirical source as to how much crops were grown there, what types of crops, how much was exported – specifically from Tucker's Town?  

WITNESS:


Not specifically from Tucker's Town, but I have, for all sorts of purposes, been through the Bermuda Almanac, which meticulously traced exports and imports into Bermuda – statistical series.  And you can see agriculture fading through the late 19th Century, disrupted in World War I, and not coming back after World War I.

One of the points I tried to get across last week:  That in 1919/1920, for much of the western world, including Bermuda, was a kind of inflection point.  Whatever we may think of the mercantile elite, they knew that Bermuda's future existence was on the line.  
Would the tourists come back?  Would agriculture be resuscitated?  Would the British military stay?  There was a very precarious sense into which this project landed and seemed to be the kind of elixir they were looking for.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  There was also a very enthusiastic capitalist sense.  There was a time of potential, great wealth-building as well.

WITNESS:


Well, it had been, of course the gilded age in North America was just what you'd say it was, but the 1920s, as it would turn out were largely a period of recession.  It wasn't completely apparent in 1919, but Canada, the United States, all had very slow economic growth in the early 20s, still predicated on capitalist values.  

We weren't regulating the economy very much at all.  The stock market wasn't as we will find out at the end of the decade, etc.  So, it was a capitalist view of society.  It would have been extraordinary for Bermuda to embrace a state-led model of development, and a bit of that in Canada with the development of, say, Hydro Ontario, etc., but that was the exception rather than the rule.

SR. COUNSEL:

And when we talk about – you've said:  In Canada, the appropriations of land.  They were largely done for preserving a historical, or natural site, or for making way for pipelines, utilities, necessary things.  In a country as large as Canada, it was necessary, in some cases, to ensure that the entire country had access to transportation lines and that sort of thing, correct?

WITNESS:


You're quite right.  We often when you talk of Canada, you hear of a post coast to coast nation, and we needed infrastructure to make sure that happened, and lurking – a very common interpretation of Canada - it's lurking behind.  That was the fear of America – not militarily, but economically – that if we didn't get our act together and join up coast to coast, Oregon and Washington would look for a northern state, etc.  So, we needed that.

More recently it has expropriation that are heritage application, as you point out.  We have a magnificent set of national parks and that entailed taking land from some people in the interest of the broader public's recreation and the preservation of nature.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  But in Bermuda, this wasn't the taking of land to ensure that, for instance, ships could get in to bring vital supplies?
WITNESS:


No.

SR. COUNSEL:

And it wasn't the taking of land to run electrical cables underground?  You know, you have to encroach sometimes or, as you gave an example, the railway, to ensure there's some transportation.  It wasn't that kind of taking of land in Tucker's Town?
WITNESS:


No, it wasn't.  To take a Keynesian metaphor:  The pump priming here was the dollars coming into Bermuda by these, they hoped, well-heeled landowners, and they were – the people like Brits and Roosevelts.  That was the less tangible benefit of it:  That you would have this high-spending group, who would be in Tucker's Town and pumping up the Bermuda economy through construction employees, their servicing employees, etc.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  I'm going to come back to that.  But before I leave the area of agriculture, I had asked you about exports and imports:  Locally grown crops were, in fact, used to sustain one's family – extended family – and also sold locally at the time, correct?

WITNESS:


I believe so.  I have read Dr. Francis' piece, and I thought his treatment of the cartage industry of taking, and the community life in Tucker's Town was already good.  And one has this image of carts taking vegetables into St. George's and Hamilton etc.  Yeah.  
I don't know if you can measure that.  It was a very informal market but, clearly Tucker's Town to some degree, was connected to it.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, indeed.  I mean, there's, in fact, quite a bit of empirical evidence that farmers in Tucker's Town did sell, on a regular basis, their crops and sustained themselves, right?  I mean they sustained themselves that way?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And the fishing industry, you had some comments about that, but at the time, fishermen sustained themselves.

WITNESS:


Well, there's no doubt it was a sustainable community, but what leverage did it give them in posterity?  There were other farmers in Bermuda, other fishermen, etc.  They, no doubt, could have sustained that measure of self…

SR. COUNSEL:

Determination?  

WITNESS:


Yeah, exactly.  But would it have ever in any kind of macro way improve that community?

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, I guess it depends what your community's aspirations are, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

If we put the gloss of the people who wanted to develop that area on them, we'd say:  Well no, they're never going to develop into what we think they should be, correct?  
WITNESS:


Yeah.  

SR. COUNSEL:

But that doesn't mean that that's necessarily the only way they could have moved forward.

WITNESS:


Yes.  In Canada, expropriation has become much more difficult – that is many Western countries.  

The urge to set up national parks is now met with resistance from people living on that land, from indigenous peoples.  It's been much harder to expropriate, to shift aside another set of social expectations that you just described.  

The broader betterment of society remains, it's just become much harder.  We live in a society with a lot of interest groups, people who have learned to be articulate in a public forum and know how to defend themselves.  And that, as we all agree, was not the case of Tucker's Town people 100 years ago.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, whether they could articulate their concerns is one thing.  Whether they could have access to representatives and a power structure that would allow them to actually force their concerns is another.

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

And what we see from that time period, of course, they didn't have access to a system that would allow them to object in any meaningful way to the taking of their land.

WITNESS:


Yes.  And as I mentioned earlier, this was broadly felt in many Bermudian levels of society:  Women, we've mentioned – when the railway was built in the 1930s, the boat builders along the north shore, their interests were treated in much the same way, and the railway went through.  
So, this attitude was – and this disability – was not only felt in Tucker's Town, but it was broadly felt by many groups in Bermuda – because of this narrow power base.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  But the difference in Tucker's Town is, of course, the whole community disappeared from Tucker's Town?

WITNESS:


Yes.  Well, would be true in St. David's too.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, and I'm going to come to that, but I thought we'd start with Tucker's Town, because it's a first in time.  There was also the issue of voting rights, and I'm sure we can just kind of summarize that:  Voting rights in Bermuda were amended and re-amended for many years to ensure that, really, the white upper classes had the upper hand in voting rights.

WITNESS:


Very much so.  And I, as an aside, this of course reminds all of us of what the Republicans in some American States are doing in the present election.  
That's an aside.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  There's some direct comparisons that can be made, for sure.  With respect to this particular area – I know that you've had access to Dr. Swan's and Dr. Francis' research – the black population was, in fact, the majority population in Tucker's Town and in St. George's parish, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

They were the/they had minority voting rights though, correct?

WITNESS:


What do you mean by that?  

SR. COUNSEL:

They had less voting rights.  Even though they were the majority of the population, they…

WITNESS:


Yes.  They were just disadvantaged by their property-holders…  yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  Because you had to hold property worth a certain amount of money in order to be able to vote, and you had to be male.  And so/but, were you aware that the difference between the voting rights wasn't that great in those areas – in St. George's parish?

WITNESS:


No.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  But, if we take away the land from a good number of people whose land was valued above the minimum standard, then we also potentially take away their voting rights – if they can't relocate in land equally valuable – or if they don't relocate on land equally valuable.  Correct?

WITNESS:


That would be a one implication of it.  Again, and I think the people – like Goodwin, Goslings and Spurlings behind this, their primary motivation was this pump priming of the Bermuda economy, rather – secondarily, perhaps it had entered their mind – as to what you just described.  

But there was, I think a sense of desperation, that this had to take place for the economic benefit of Bermuda and, of course as you pointed out, their own personal economic benefit.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, let's go right there then – since we're there – because I wanted to ask you some further questions on that.  I know you spoke about it when you were here, but I'd like to just clarify.  

Because you do have/you did look at tourism in a sort of more broad perspective in your work – in your book about Bermuda tourism?  

WITNESS:


Yes, indeed.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And I take it you looked at the research that is available as to the trends in tourism globally around 1920 into about 1925?
WITNESS:


Yes, indeed.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And globally, I'm going to suggest to you that our concept of holiday, or vacation:  That was around the time that people started to more generally think about having holidays, or vacations, away from home.

WITNESS:


Yes, and in fact, if you look at England, Canada, the United States in the 1920s and ‘30s, that the Governments mandate statutory holidays - the two weeks off, or the one week off – that we're all used to.  That became possible, and that went hand-in-glove with the development of technologies:  Better steamships eventually aircraft, trains, etc., that could deliver people to their holiday.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yeah.  So – sorry, go ahead.  Go ahead.

WITNESS:


Travel to Bermuda, being a very small piece of geography, is how do you extract the best economic advantage from that?  Now, we all know today that the big cruise ships deliver 3,500 people, but their per capita bang for a province, or sorry, a country like the Caribbean, or Bermuda, is a relatively small – they take a head tax off the people arriving.  They buy the t-shirt of the year – we’re all familiar with that.  

In 1920, Bermuda, in the commercial elite, did not want that kind of tourism because it wasn't the kind of economic benefit.  They wanted the high-end people who would be big spenders and, in the train of their presence, would attract, downstream, the better kind of tourist to come, which wouldn't strain the land mass of Bermuda.  

So whatever conclusions we draw about the commercial elite, as neophytes in the tourism industry, they were pretty shrewd in figuring out what would work in Bermuda for them and, downstream, for the colony itself.

SR. COUNSEL:

And I don't disagree that they were pretty shrewd, but what I'm concerned about is that you have, in your evidence, and in your report, sort of said that:  Castle Harbour was the key to reviving and bringing tourism to the forefront in Bermuda.  Is that…?

WITNESS:


Very much so.  

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  But…okay.

WITNESS:


Go ahead.

SR. COUNSEL:

But other keys were the fact that steamships and ships – sailing ships – had become very trendy and much more reliable for bringing people from the east coast of the U.S.  That was also a factor, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

We talked about holidays, the rise of unions and legislation, making sure that people had mandated holidays, so they could actually travel, correct?

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

In the 1920s, the advent of the modern travel agency, Thomas Cook came along, and a bunch of travel agencies opened up, facilitating tourism globally?
WITNESS:


Thomas Cook had been around since the 1840s, by the way, and had been brought into business by Prime Minister Gladstone bringing an Act in that mandated people could travel for a penny a mile.  So, you could have a tour group that would get you to Brighton, or wherever, but you're right.  Yes.  

The/we all know from tourism today that it's not a discreet product.  It is a chain product.  It goes from everything, from the advertisers to the travel agencies, to the transporters, ship, airlines, the connection, the hotel reservations, etc., etc.  It's a big seamless product.  And Bermuda was ill-equipped for all of that, and these fellas knew that, and they needed a partner to bring that to them – or ready-made, as it were.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, let's talk about that:  What hotels, resorts, vacation spots, existed prior to Castle Harbour in Bermuda?

WITNESS:


Well, there were/there was the South Shore hotels, there was a big hotel in St. George's that burnt down.  Now, I forget, it sat up on the hill there.  There were hotels.  The Princess is probably the jewel of the crown, set up in the 1890s in Hamilton.  So, there were hotels.  
The Trade Development Board had been set up in 1913 to be the kind of coordinating centre for this strategy to come in.  But of course, in World War I, it had been put in hiatus.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, it would have been. 

WITNESS:


So, there was some rudiments of an industry and that's what they wanted and prayed would come back to Bermuda afterwards.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, when you…

WITNESS:


It would have been conscious that Henry Flager -Flagler in Florida was setting up Palm Beach, etc.  There was competition out there, and they knew that they had a wonderful product, but how to get it deliverable?  So that's why, when Furness Withy came along, it seemed – in their mind – a Godsend.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  But that product – you named a number of prominent hotels that existed - that product prior to World War I, when everything changed for everyone, was a viable sort of thriving industry in Bermuda?

WITNESS:


An infant industry.  You know, the numbers are only about 10,000 a year in those years before the war.  So, there was great promise, but a lot of work to be done.  You know, and they developed… they understood advertising partially because they got the right partners… but the notion of ‘the isles of rest’ and ‘nature's fairyland’, this played on what they saw as their potential clientele:  Rich Americans, who wanted to get out of the dirty cities where they'd made their money, and enjoy an idyllic way of life.  
And you've mentioned, quite effectively, that the legislature had a very narrow base.  Well, there was much in Bermuda society, at the time, that was appealing to people:  It was British, there was a decorum – Mark Twain always talked about how he liked people greeting him in the street, etc.  This was like the old American society where everyone knew their place.  I'm not defending that, but that was the hankering they had to come to Bermuda, and the Trade Development Board understood that and started developing it very nicely.  

SR. COUNSEL:

And all of that existed without Castle Harbour?

WITNESS:


That's right.

SR. COUNSEL:

And indeed - I think you just said that, before the war, it was like 10,000 people - but in an article, you wrote, the article ‘Trading Places’?  

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

You indicated that, by 1911, the Colony could boast more annual visitors – 27,000 – than citizens.

WITNESS:


Yes, it/the growth potential was there, but the competition would grow.  But the very fact, that you talked about a few minutes ago.  So, you have to develop a product with a very keen differentiation.  And in Bermuda they did that very successfully through the 20th Century, as we all know.  And the grooming was meticulous.  

I did an article on the education system, and students in the junior schools were taught how to greet the tourism – the tourists – say good morning, say hello, smile, you know, be demure, all that sort of stuff.  
There's a very interesting book called ‘Banana Tree House’ published in the 1930s which portrays the young black girl as a sort of black person who understood their place in society.  

And I'm not appending this in any way, but this message just permeated through Bermuda society, and I would suspect some of the older members of your Commission, or people listening, will remember that.  

And I must say, when I first came to Bermuda in the 1970s, I was struck by what a superficially pleasant place it was to be, and that was inculcated in the educational system.

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  One of the things that you just mentioned - sorry, if I could just have a moment?
WITNESS:


Sure.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, sorry – and I keep referencing Castle Harbour – I should be saying Tucker's Town.  I apologize.  

One of the things that you just mentioned was that, you know, you had to get the people here.  Well, another factor that occurred after the war was that there were more people available to come.  There were more people available to travel, correct?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

So, that made a difference in what had been a declining tourist industry, may well have been partly revived based on that fact alone.

WITNESS:


Yeah, there are a whole lot of factors.  I've mentioned that the ‘20s was a period – early 20s – was a period of economic depression, but we know also from our cultural historians, that in the wake of a grotesque sacrifice of World War I, there was a kind of devil-may-care-carpe diem feeling, or the flapper society, who might as well enjoy life because, God we could all be dead in a trench.  You know?  There were a whole lot of factors that led to it.  

You mentioned if I may mention?  You mentioned Castle Harbour.  Well, that's a good example of what I'm saying.  Their attitude was:  Get wealthy Americans and some Canadians on Tucker's Town itself with their homes, then build the Castle Harbour, which will be one notch down on the tourism ladder.  

It will be a splendid resort hotel which will cater to those people who now come for two weeks, or something.  And we've all been through this experience:  You sit at the deck at the Castle Harbour and look across and somebody says:  That's the Britt's house, or:  That's the Roosevelt house.  

When we were in Antigua last year, we were taken by a cab driver up who pointed across the bay saying:  That's Eric Clapton's house.  
We all feel this need to be in the shadow of some kind of celebrity and that was why Castle Harbour was developed.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  I want to get back to the Tucker's Town development, and you said that it was not only motivated by the desire to generate wealth for the people involved in that development, but also to generate wealth based on the tourists who were coming, so they would spend money, right?  

But by your own analysis, they weren't going to spend money buying t-shirts in Hamilton.  They weren't going to spend money in Somerset.  They weren't going to go – they were going to stay in their enclave, right?

WITNESS:


Yes, but there was going to be a very powerful multiplier effect, in that, their houses initially would have to be built.  That induced labour to come up there.  Then you would need service staff:  Maids, cooks, not drivers at this point.  

So, there was a ripple effect into the labour economy.  Yeah, I mean, they wouldn't – it may not go as far as Somerset – but it would have a fairly powerful ripple effect.  And remember, these are two types of tourists.  These are residential tourists who would be in residence for a large chunk of the year – as opposed to the folks at Castle Harbour – who would come for one week, two weeks, three weeks.  There were different kinds, but both of them would generate employment in the big hotel or in a more domestic way for the homes in Tucker's Town.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yeah, and we've heard, some people have given evidence about how, having been taken off their land in Tucker's Town they were able to go and work and make some tips off these people that came – the rich American tourists – but they still didn't have their land, right?  

WITNESS:


Well one assumes, by then, they had land elsewhere or a home elsewhere.  But I mean, I can't empirically prove that.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, and in fact, we can't even empirically prove that everyone who lost land in Tucker's Town was in fact paid.  We can't empirically prove that either.

WITNESS:


Well, as I said earlier, it would be very nice to find the files.  I mean our Government was rudimentary, but clear, they would have had to cut cheques for all these people and there would have had to be a deed signed – a surrender deed.  

We can't find that, but I saw nothing in the Royal Gazette of people complaining about that.  You might answer:  Well the Royal Gazette, given it being in the thrall of it commercially would not publish that.

SR. COUNSEL:

Probably not, yeah.

WITNESS:


We don't know.

SR. COUNSEL:

You have indicated I think in your evidence and in response, you – you sent some reflections or thoughts – about the evidence of the two other experts, Dr. Francis and Dr. Swan, right?

WITNESS:


Well, I was told that this was not to be an academic conference or whatever you wish to – seminar – I have read both of their papers and I was asked to make a submission, yes.  Madame Justice asked me not to talk about it.  And I think I respected that.

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, I may have a couple questions but, one of the things that you said in your evidence – we can just go to your evidence – you said that:  You kind of objected to the terms – and you did talk about it to that extent – you objected to the terms land grab or theft in relation to both Tucker's Town and in relation to St. David's, that those terms you didn't feel were appropriate.

WITNESS:


Yes, I still feel that.  Any dictionary definition of theft indicates that it is an unmitigated, unregulated seizure of property.  This land grab is a less precise term, of course, but it indicates much the same thing.  

Now whatever we may conclude about the quality of the compensation and the just value of the compensation, it was at least a process.  It wasn't unmitigated.  It wasn't unregulated.  So, the other thing I don't like about those terms is they excite a kind of emotional response that moves the debate again away from a kind of empirical investigation to one that becomes politicized.

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  Could I ask for Dr. McDowall's article, ‘Trading Places’, to be put up on the screen?  
I don't know if you – I think this – I don’t seem to have it.  Is there any way to do a split screen, no, so we can see Dr. McDowall?  Okay.  Dr. McDowall, are you still there?  

WITNESS:


Yeah.  I'm here.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  Well, what we're seeing on your screen is your article and not your face.  Are you seeing the article?  

WITNESS:


I am.

SR. COUNSEL:

And is this, in fact, an article that you penned, and it was published in the Bermuda Magazine, summer of 1996?

WITNESS:


Indeed, it was.

SR. COUNSEL:

And it's called ‘Trading Places’.  The by-line on the front page of that document says:

Trading Places:  At Last, the Truth about Tucker's Town.

And gives a page number.  The second page, and I didn't number them, but the next page in has ‘Trading Places’.  There's a photograph of old Tucker's Town, before the boom:

A few humble cottages surround Tucker's Town Bay and behind them a dense cedar forest.

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

Supporters of the development claim the area's inhabitants were in-bred and degenerate.

WITNESS:


Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And then the next page, and I'm sorry, these are photocopies so that whatever photos were there are not very easy to see.  But on the third page, at the top, there's a by-line:
How a black ‘backwater’ (in quotes) was transformed into a whiter-than-white millionaire’s playground.  Duncan McDowall reports on the breathtakingly brazen Tucker's Town land grab that through altruism, or otherwise, marked the beginning of Bermuda's golden age of prosperity.  

And then below that, it says, 

For inbred, read well-bred.  Tucker's Town today is as peaceful as ever, but that is where the similarity ends.

The quote there, how ‘a black backwater was transformed into a whiter-than-white’, was that something that you wrote to headline your…

WITNESS:

If I may interject…

SR. COUNSEL:
Sure.

WITNESS:

Anyone who's written a magazine article – and I've read/written magazine articles in the United States, Canada, England – will know that it is the editor's prerogative to supply, or to change the title, and to supply the outtake to what you've just been reading.  

So, the editor was Charles Barkley at the time, an English journalist who'd come to Bermuda.  That was the title he applied to it and the outtakes there are from his read of this - of the content – of the text I'd supplied.  

So, the word ‘backwater’ does appear in it, but it was an attribution to the way it was justified, simply as – similarly the words ‘degenerate’, etc., that word occasionally emerged in the years after Tucker's Town by white local historians who, in a very clumsy way, thought they were justifying what had happened.  

But yes, obviously, I have to take responsibility for that.  But the things at the beginning, or the title of an article and the outtakes, are usually supplied by the editor.  And one of the annoying things, if you write for newspapers, if you send your article in with a title, and when it appears, it's got another title on it, which you may or may not agree with.  So, I just mention that.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And that/that certainly is the case with newspapers but, having worked in the publishing business, you would have seen this before it was published.  You would have had to at least reviewed how the article was going to appear to ensure that you agreed with it.  

WITNESS:


No.

SR. COUNSEL:

No?

WITNESS:


I don't mean to diminish Bermuda publishing in any way, but the magazines I write with, generally, I don't see it.  Perhaps a little… these magazines run on a shoestring in a small place like Bermuda.  It's different when I write for the Globe and Mail, or something like that.  I do see it.  They run it, but I… I generally do not see it and I must say, generally, I'm happy with the outcome.  
But I write a lot with the Bermudian now and they do a very fine job of production and I trust them, but I don't usually see it before it appears.  I suggest some illustrations, if I found them, or they find other illustrations as well.  

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  So, I guess the upshot of all that is your distancing yourself from the ‘breathtakingly brazen Tucker's Town land grab’ – that characterization of it?

WITNESS:


To some degree.  I mean, it's like cars.  This car will change your life.  You know, there's that tendency to exaggeration in getting the reader.  We all know when you write, it's the first paragraph that catches people to read onwards.  You've got to hook them at that point.  
This said and I go back to a question one of the Commissioners asked last week about Mr. Outerbridge and my mistake in misidentifying him:  That's true enough but, in my mind, what is important about the lecture that came before this, and the article, was that for the first time in 75 years in Bermuda, somebody in a public sphere had talked about this.  

I talked about suppressed memory last time.  This issue finally came to the surface, in writing this article and giving that thought.  I'm not arguing it's the perfect interpretation of what happened.  But from my point of view as a historian – and I'm very proud of this – people are talking about it and you are meeting today.  And this has gone on with the public – into the public consciousness since then – as a bone of contention and what it is to be a Bermudian.  

So, I'm very proud of this article and not in a line-by-line sense, but simply in what it did in terms of the dialogue over Bermuda citizenship.

SR. COUNSEL:

Oh, and I…and I don't disagree with you at all, Dr. McDowall, that it is an important area of discussion and it's good that people feel they can talk about it now but, when you talk about suppressed memory, or historical amnesia, or whatever term you want to give it, it generally surrounds a time that has been traumatic for at least some people in history and – I don't know – embarrassing for others, I suppose, at this point.

WITNESS:


I think you're quite right.  A good example now would be the Tulsa riots in the United States finally coming to surface and finally getting some recognition and some discussion over the justice and injustice of it, right down to archaeological work.  
So, but the white elite who developed this:  Yes, I think they understood some of the negativity around it, obviously.  

A community had been displaced but, on the other hand, they had given birth, or accelerated, a tourism industry that was serving Bermuda very well.  And it was a playbook that, of course, they would go back to with the railway in the 1930s and, in a somewhat different way, with the airport and the military bases in World War II.  There was an external justification for doing what they were doing – in their minds.

SR. COUNSEL:

And I guess… I don't want to belabour the point…  but I keep coming back to this because you continue to say that the Tucker's Town development ushered in and was responsible for a more vibrant and growing tourism industry in Bermuda.  

And that's a cause and effect argument, right?  That, if not for the Tucker's Town development, Bermuda tourism wouldn't have taken off.  Is that what you're saying?

WITNESS:


Well, that's a bit categorical.  I would say it was a prime ingredient in it.  It was a brand-maker.  There were other elements involved and then you've suggested some of them:  The fact that there was a broader clientele ready to travel, a change social attitudes, but this was really a central facet.  I agree about that.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And you indicated in your – while we've got the article up, and we can now see you:  If we can go to the next page of the article, ‘Trading Places’.  And if we go down the page, well, even at the top – the by-line there, the portion of the article that's highlighted: 

A community literally vanished, its architecture erased, its inhabitants displaced and even the old landscape replaced with the trappings of North American affluence.

That/those were your words, right?

WITNESS:


I think Charles supplied it, but I would agree with them.

SR. COUNSEL:

If we look down the page, on the right-hand side, just go down a bit please on the screen:  The second full paragraph from the bottom.  

WITNESS:


Okay, there it is.  Yeah, you're right.  He took it out of there, that's right.

SR. COUNSEL:

But in Tucker's Town, between 1920 and 1923, everything changed utterly.  A community literally vanished, its architecture erased, its inhabitants displaced and even the old landscape replaced with the trappings of North American influence – affluence, oversized rural homesteads, a golf course, smooth roads and manicured gardens.  Almost in the biblical twinkling of an eye, old Tucker's Town lost everything but its name.

WITNESS:


Yes.  One thing I would modify 25 years on, the old architecture didn't/it wasn't erased.  

I'm working on the career of Bermuda architect, Will Onions now, who resuscitated the Bermuda vernacular, the wonderful Coral architecture in Bermuda.  Although the homes, the admittedly humble homes of Tucker's Town were taken away, the new homes were bigger and had all the mod cons in them, but they conformed to the Bermuda vernacular architecture with the white groups, you know all of that.  

So, there was some perpetuation there but, in terms of the personal – the human footprint was gone – that community was gone, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

I mean many of those homes in Tucker's Town were built by the inhabitants before they were erased.  Correct?

WITNESS:


Yes, yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

They would quarry the materials right there.

WITNESS:


But that's the nature of vernacular architecture.  You work with material and skills at hand, much the same in my neck of the woods here, with limestone and that continued.  But their homes were clearly small and were not nearly what the Tucker's Town people would have wanted.  

SR. COUNSEL:

No, no.  Did you do any research?  And I wasn't clear from your evidence before, about whether there were barber shops, small restaurants, gathering areas, cultural centres, in Tucker's Town before the affluence?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  the first two decades, when my wife and I came to Bermuda, we stayed down in Smith and we went to Marsden Church, and we got to know quite a few people and, in particular, as I mentioned last time, Roy Talbot, the singer.  And often sat on Roy's point and he talked about growing up.  

He was young – he was a very young man then.  His father was one of the signers of the petition, and we got a fairly close sense of the nature of that community and Roy had very warm feelings for it.  He also was quite happy with what had become of his life, and we talked about this last time.  I acknowledge other people may not feel the same way.  

One, as an aside, Roy had employment later in life taking care of some of the houses up in Tucker's Town when the residents were away, and I often went up with him if he needed a hand.  You know, to fix a windowpane, or whatever it was, and he was reminiscent on those trips.  

And as I prepared this article and the talk I gave, I did interview – my notes are somewhere downstairs – oh, six or eight people who had a direct lineage out of Tucker's Town.  They were all quite old at that point and I did get from them with the sense of the community down there.  

So yes, I did – not methodical research – but I have very close ties with Tucker's Town.  For one thing, I'm a runner and I often like running up there and was told to get out a couple times by people who said I wasn't allowed there.  So, I had personal experience with the exclusivity of Tucker's Town.

SR. COUNSEL:
And the oral histories that you did receive, as you say, perhaps Roy Talbot was the only one who had actually been alive at the time, but he would have only been about five years old, correct?

WITNESS:


All of them were alive, but they were all very young.

SR. COUNSEL:

Five years old, four years old, so, the reliability of their memories and oral, you know, the elders who had spoken to them about it is, you're not sure?
WITNESS:


Well, it's certainly closer to the fact then, you know, people one, or two generations, further along.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Absolutely.  Absolutely.  And you put in your article, if you carry on down to the next paragraph and over to the next page all the pejorative terms that were used in the day to justify the taking of Tucker's Town from these people, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes, except the pejorative terms tended to be from local historians writing in the kind of vehicles they had in the years afterwards.  Not so much from, you know, the power brokers who we talked about earlier.  

Well, you're right, here.  Here’s William Zuill, writing in the ‘Bermuda Tyranny’, which is, you know, a book that stood the time - the test of time – very well.  But there's that word ‘black backwater’, yes.  ‘Untamed wilderness’, or ‘hinterland’.  That of course would – it was hardly ‘untamed.  You know, people lived there; it was a community there.

But this is that process of trying to provide an ex post facto justification, what has happened to ease their conscience, perhaps, about it.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  I mean, Louisa Hutchings Smith was even more pejorative.

WITNESS:


Oh, yeah, yeah.  She talked about degenerates – I believe.
SR. COUNSEL:

Yeah, she did.

WITNESS:


…somewhere in there.

SR. COUNSEL:

In 1938.

WITNESS:


Yeah, but you see, here is that line.  This is 25 years ago.  I should have reread it.  But less has been written than in any other part - of any other part – of Bermuda.  

There was this submerged memory, you know, that the white population didn't much want to talk about it because it was contentious and the black community, my impression from Roy and those people would talk about it around the dinner table, but they had no public voice to express it.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, no.  And one can look through Bermudian history and say well:  Expressing things – expressing objections to the white elite publicly sometimes lost you your home, your job, right?  

WITNESS:


This is in Bermuda or Canada?

SR. COUNSEL:

In Bermuda.

WITNESS:


I can't – I would think that might be possible – but I have no proof of it.  No.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  And the next page, you have a paragraph beginning:

Perhaps the first point to be made in any attempt to tell the story of modern Tucker's Town is that old Tucker's Town was a community, not a backwater or genetic time-warp.  Its roots were, in fact, as deep as those of any Bermuda community.

WITNESS:


I agree.  Well – not as any – I mean development had taken place in the early to mid-19th Century.  But it wasn't St. George's, but yeah, it was a legitimate community with deep roots.

SR. COUNSEL:

And a deep connection with the land, right?  

WITNESS:


Yeah.  Yes, exactly.

SR. COUNSEL:

You – over on the next column - sort of just above Babe Ruth there… You have:  Beyond the coves… the paragraph beginning: 

Beyond the coves, Tucker's Town, had a fitful existence.  Although rocky and windswept in many places, the area, 345 acres as indicated on the early maps, also had… sorry… also had pockets of rich soil.  

In these, settlers experimented with crops as varied as cotton and pineapples, but eventually found lasting success with onions, sweet potatoes, parsley and other market vegetables.  At first, its agriculture was dominated by white landowners and you named some of the names.  But that farming, however, was marginal and, throughout the 19th Century, the white population of Tucker's Town gradually move on to greener pastures – greener Bermuda pastures.  Black farmers, Lambert, Smith and Talbots took their place.  

By 1900, Tucker's Town was a tight-knit isolated community.  A few whites remained, but it was fundamentally a black society.  There were two churches, a general store, a school, a cricket pitch, a post office and a cemetery on the knoll behind the church.  

Boats were still being built, pigs were slaughtered, potatoes grated, vegetables were dispatched by cart to Hamilton for sale; the rhythms of life were woven through these activities.  

Children were given the rudiments of education and then when work ceased, of course, there was Frith’s rum barrel, an evening of chowder and cards.  

So, there was… you've painted, I think, a very vibrant and a bit diversified community as to what it occupied itself with.  

WITNESS:


Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:

So, it wasn't just a few crops but, in fact, there were – there was boat building, there was livestock, there were cultural activities.  There was a number of things going on and there was, in fact, a school.  

WITNESS:


Yes.  There's no denying this is a community that had worked out a formula for sustaining itself.  It reminds me very much of what I've seen in Newfoundland along the coast where you have communities that diversified to sustain themselves, either fishing – a very seasonal way of life.  

You fished at sometimes of the year; you turned up the forest at other times of the year.  But cumulatively, it is a rather meagre way of life.  It is a viable one, a dignified one, but it was not one that, again I think, could have moved the society much beyond the perpetuation of this kind of sustenance, particularly if certain parts of the overall Bermuda economy were slowly declining;  Boat building, for instance.

SR. COUNSEL:

That sort of begs the question that we don't know how that community would have developed because it already had developed, all on its own, those different structures.  Correct?  

WITNESS:


Yes.  Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

And it might have developed other more – I don't want to call it more sophisticated – but maybe to use your words, ‘more sophisticated structures’ if it had been allowed to continue on.

WITNESS:


I agree.  We – however, you know, we – 100 years on, tend to view society as a sort of a social engineering project.  What can we put into this society or this group that will better them?  

We encounter they're talking about a guaranteed annual income now.  We'd like to think we could engineer our society and I suppose our discussion - I'm coming at it from that direction – Yes, these are unknowns, but we can speculate what might have improved this way of life.

SR. COUNSEL:

Assuming it needed improvement, right?

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

All right.  

WITNESS:


I don’t mean that in a condescending way, but people have a fundamental craving for a better way of life and, while life was sustaining and had a richness to it in Tucker's Town, they clearly were, if you look – if we had better figures, I suspect we're at the very low end of the Bermuda socio-economic structure, one that was being reinforced by the nature of political power in the Colony.

SR. COUNSEL:
And, aside from the anecdotal stories that you heard from later generations who were very young people at the time, were you able to follow what happened to these people and whether they were economically better off or not, in fact?  Were you able to follow, you know, where they went, where they worked, what they did with land?

WITNESS:


Only in the kind of selective group that I've mentioned a few minutes ago.

SR. COUNSEL:

 Okay.

WITNESS:


And the point was legitimately made when I was last talking with you, that it's easier to find people who think they've lived a success story than those who feel that they have been diverted from the path in life.  I accept that.  The people I did talk to felt they had done quite well.  

Roy Talbot, for instance, and the success of the Talbot Brothers.  Roy had a very nice house just over by Pink Beach.  He had a career that took him to Canada, the United States and England.  For him, it had opened up a way of life that brought success.  

And others I talked to clearly, you know, in a number of generations, the family really latched onto the modern Bermuda economy, either in the service industry or the professions.  Yet, as I think I pointed out last week, carried forward some of the things from Tucker's Town into their new way of life:  The rich sense of congregation at Marsden Church, Roy Talbot's inclination for singing, along with some of his brothers and cousins.  

There were elements of the old culture that went forward.  Roy had a boat always.  I didn't like going out it, it was rather leaky.  But, you know, there were some of these elements of going out fishing.  I remember he took me out and we caught a moray one day and, one of the more frightening experiences I've had in life.  But they had moved on.

I acknowledge there may be people who have had different experiences in leaving and maybe their whole rhythm of life was in that fishing, or market gardening, and they never recovered that.  I can't say.  

But there was a group – and I talked to them – who felt this had been an ambivalent experience but one, by and large, that had improved their material way of life.

SR. COUNSEL:

And that group, as you said, were very, very young at the time.  It wasn't so much that it was their family homes, but it was their parents' homes that were lost.

WITNESS:


Yes, but they, of course, inherited the substance of that family in terms of property and wealth, or whatever.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, and I'm going to just be clear:  You're not suggesting that, because these people lost their way of life and their home, they were better off.  I think what you're trying to say is, despite the fact that they lost their home and their way of life, they went on themselves to be successful.

WITNESS:


Yes, yes.  It's not that clear path, obviously.  We can't ourselves off from our emotional roots just like that.  We carry forward a sense of loss, a sense of nostalgia, but I would think we compensate that with the life gain.

SR. COUNSEL:

And in respect to the Tucker's Town land acquisitions, you indicated, for instance, that Mr. Gosling owned 100 acres in Tucker's Town, right?

WITNESS:


Yes.  He'd bought that as a sort of a summer retreat in 1907, I think.

SR. COUNSEL:

And I see in your article about another gentleman who - sorry, BD Talbot's land holdings – and what he was offered and what, ultimately, he received for his land.  I don't see in either your report, I don't think – unless I've missed it.  And please correct me if I'm wrong – what it was that Mr. Gosling received for his acreage.

WITNESS:


I don't know that.  It's not there, I don't know that.  Maybe Dr. Francis has found that out.  But we can be assured he was handsomely paid, because he was delivering through the Development Company, the first big chunk of what they wanted.  

So, I'm sure he was well compensated, and furthermore, he got a job with the Company.  He left his political role as Colonial Assistant – Colonial Secretary – and became the point person in Bermuda for this development.

SR. COUNSEL:

But we are – oh, sorry - we are sure that he did sell his land to the BDC.  Is that right?  

WITNESS:


Yeah, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  Of which he was a part?
WITNESS:


Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

There were… we've talked about the fact that there was no real resistance to The Act that allowed this to happen, The Act of Parliament, right?  I mean everybody was on the same page as far as Parliament goes - it was the same people.  And they decided how it was that the land would be acquired to build this luxury playground, right?  

WITNESS:


As I mentioned last week, there was some white resistance and criticism, and that appears in Royal Gazette.  The editor was worried that this was monopoly capitalism coming to Bermuda, that it was a Trojan horse for non-Bermuda, white culture, etc.  So, it wasn't uniform.  There were voices that were anxious about it.  

SR. COUNSEL:

But, as far as passing through Parliament, that happened really quite seamlessly.  

WITNESS:


Yes, yes.  You have, like the Republicans, having their way with the Supreme Court at that point.  They had the numbers.

SR. COUNSEL:

And you would agree with me that there were other models that could have been passed, short of expropriation, that would have allowed the BDC to nevertheless develop the land.

WITNESS:


Well, I'm not sure.  I mean as we pointed out, and that the other offers I think pointed out, about two-thirds of the residents had voluntarily accepted the offers put before them.  The expropriation came for the last group either in arbitrarily finding a value of their land, or for some, actually it was pushing them off the land at a determined price.  

I'm not quite sure what another model would have looked like.  I'm open to suggestions.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Well, for instance, we leased St. David's, essentially to the U.S. military, for 99 years.  Correct?

WITNESS:


Yeah.  I'm not sure, as a selling point, that that would have worked.  Again, the whole concept was one of exclusivity and the kind of sense of permanence.  Whether a lease would have appealed – even for 99 years – I don't know.  

I suspect these people wanted their own a piece of real estate.  But, again, it/I didn't see that suggested by anyone.

SR. COUNSEL:

No, no.  Nothing – no other alternative model short of, as you say, disappearing the town was suggested or even considered, was it?

WITNESS:


No.  But I don't know if that was in the lexicon at the time.  The St. David's one would take place in the pressure cooker of a world war.  That created a different sense – a different imperative.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  Let's… let's move to there…I may come back to this, but let's move to St. David's – since we spent quite a bit of time on Tucker's Town – and that's something that was said at the time that:  

It was a pressure cooker.  It was an urgent situation.  Britain was being bombed.  We needed the U.S. to be here to lend aid from Bermuda to Britain/ to British interests.  Correct?  

WITNESS:


Yes, yes.  But, I mean, I think that the quality lay much different for the patrician appetites of Americans for a retreat from the hurly-burly of the industrial world was one thing.  

Defeating Nazism is, in my mind, a far higher calling.  I mean it was a pernicious doctrine – if you were Jewish, black, handicapped, Roma, - it spelled big trouble for you.  There's a nasty word in German, ‘untermenschen’… those who were beneath contempt, they're beyond mentioning and blacks were included in that.  

And so, defeating Nazism I think was an imperative that all Bermudians have to recognize.  Now white Bermudian who tended to see themselves as British – and after all it was a British colony – you know, are, as you suggested automatically came to British defence, as did Canadians, by and large.  England was in peril and if England fell, we would be next and we're a little vulnerable little island in the Atlantic.

SR. COUNSEL:

But the… okay.  Let's go back and let's just do some timeline:  What was presented in the local newspapers was that this had to happen, and it had to happen quickly because London was being bombed.  I mean civilians were being bombed and killed, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

That started… that Blitzkrieg started September 7, 1940, correct?  

WITNESS:


Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

And it lasted a period of 57 days.  I think they were bombing 56 out of 57 days, correct?

WITNESS:


Yes.  Well, I'm trusting your facts, yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  Thank you.  I did look it up.  And is it your… based on your research… was it that the military, the U.S. military was to be granted a base in Bermuda in order to assist, to defend Britain in some way?

WITNESS:


Well, yes.  We know, of course, we know that America would not enter the war until Pearl Harbour.

SR. COUNSEL:

So, December 7, 1941.

WITNESS:


But we do know that President Roosevelt, on the one hand faced strong isolationist feeling in the United States; that this was Europe's war, etc.

SR. COUNSEL:

Absolutely.

WITNESS:


On the other hand, other Americans realized the pernicious threat of Nazism and that, if Britain – ironically a traditional ally of America – even despite the Revolution, needed assistance, and we know that Churchill and Roosevelt had established a kind of sub-Rosa relationship that was preparing America for entry into the war.  

And that had a military technological edge do it.  The German submarines were already ravaging trans-Atlantic convoys and Britain was militarily beleaguered.  

So, the Americans were starting to feed military aid into it.  One of the needs was for more naval ships and part of the base deal was that Britain got 50 American destroyers in exchange for these leases on bases.  

The Bermuda one was actually described as a gift, as part of the deal.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  Well, let's talk about that.  Let's break that down as to what assistance was actually given in exchange for St. David's.  We know that Newfoundland and Bermuda, in fact there were no destroyers exchanged.  It was a gift, the land space.

WITNESS:


It was part of a bigger deal – an arms transfer – yes.

SR. COUNSEL:

And we know that the – historically we've since learned, and Britain learned – that most of the destroyers they got for ether land bases weren't actually that useful to them.  Eventually, there were a few other ships sent but those ones they couldn't really use anyway.  

WITNESS:


Well, they were used but they were very old-fashioned.  Canada got a few of them.  They were not the sort of ship you wanted to be on in the Atlantic, but it was what Britain desperately needed.  

And you mentioned the bombing of London, which was horribly traumatic, but the war was on a much broader point, going very poorly.  

The Germans were into North Africa.  They had swept across Europe; they had a big chunk of Norway, now.  There was this sense of impending doom that this was the background to.

SR. COUNSEL:

But how it was portrayed in Bermuda with respect to the St. David’s Islanders, was:  Look, houses are crumbling around your fellow British citizens' ears in London.  We're being bombed; we have to do this, right?  Isn't that not how it was portrayed here?

WITNESS:


Well, that was the overlay, yes.  This was part of being part of the empire.  We have to also admit that there was a local advantage in this, in that those U-boats were preying on the supply ships that were coming into Bermuda.  

They had – American tourism by 1940 had pretty much stopped because people didn't want to be at sea because the… so, there was a closer home element than this of ensuring that Bermuda could protect itself.  And that meant aviation being able to be based there to protect the convoys, and protect the colony, etc.

SR. COUNSEL:

But you're aware that there was already, at Darrell's Island, the RAF was there – the Royal Air Force, right?

WITNESS:


Well, wasn't that the sea plane base for Pan Am and Imperial Airlines?  I don't know if there were:  Were there military aircraft there?  I don't know.

SR. COUNSEL:

I'm going to suggest taken back over at war time by the RAF.  

WITNESS:

 
Yeah, but those didn’t float, you know, what do you call them?  Sea planes or, you know, flying boats.  And what was needed now was a wheel aircraft base which could, both patrol the Atlantic, but also provide a weigh station for aircraft being ferried to Europe, you know, to contribute to the British Air Force, or get American aircraft over there.  

So, a land base, I think militarily, was pretty important.  The sea planes continued, but they weren't going to turn the military balance.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.  So let's talk about what actually happened because, after the 57 days beginning September 7, 1940, we know that around that time, U.S. military personnel attended in Bermuda, looked around Southampton and Riddell's Bay and decided that would be a pretty good site.  

But then this Bermuda Committee decided it wouldn't be.  Well after that 57-day period when what Bermudians was told was the impetus for this, in late November is when it was announced that the site would be St. David's, correct?

WITNESS:


Yes.  But again, the global crisis of continued after the initial bombing of London and that initial location cutting across Warwick, I believe it was, the Bermuda Committee did a good job in fending that off because it would have completely bifurcated the Colony.  I mean you'd have a runway sucking the economy – the Colony, I'm sorry – and cutting into a pretty vital area of the colonial economy.

SR. COUNSEL:

Tourism?
WITNESS:


Yes, and the land is good there too – very good land.

SR. COUNSEL:

That was, I mean, that area was also an area where people were yachting and leisure activities, right?  

WITNESS:


Yes, you're right.  The old indistinct of when this is all over, how is our tourism going to look was one factor.

SR. COUNSEL:

As it turned – well, I'll come back to that.  So the announcement was in late November and you said:  Well, you know, the war was still ongoing.  Of course, by that time – by late November – the tides have turned a bit, right?  Britain had the German air assaults, had suffered some serious losses.

WITNESS:


I wouldn't say the tide had turned.  I think things were looking very glum.  Yes, the Battle of Britain had been fought and, in effect won, at a great cost.  Russia was soon to be attacked.  The war was expanding in the eyes of our side.  The convoys were still being ravaged on the North Atlantic.  So, I don't think the tide had turned.  It was still a very serious situation.

SR. COUNSEL:

And notwithstanding all of that, the U.S. didn't enter the war until December 7, 1941.  

WITNESS:


That's right.  There was this very strong feeling of isolationism, epitomized by people who were national heroes – like Charles Lindbergh.

SR. COUNSEL:

For sure.

WITNESS:


Roosevelt knew he had to deftly handle that and, of course, war was delivered to him through the back door by the Japanese, which shunted them into it.  But Roosevelt was certainly inclined to help out Britain in this because he saw the next frontier of the war on their doorstep, as we did in Canada.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yeah.  So, what the U.S. secured was a number of bases, as in St. David's, that would kind of act as a front to protect the U.S. borders if war came towards it, correct?  

WITNESS:


Yes, but it also served as the logistical function, preparing equipment and ensuring the safe passage of convoys from one continent to another.  There were a number of functions here.  

But yes, much as in the Cold War, Kindley Field served as a place to patrol for Soviet submarines lurking off the American coast.  

It was geographically very handy and that was one of the distinctive roles of Bermuda, ever since the American Revolution.  

For the British, it was a kind of offshore post to keep an eye on the Americans and now that role is somewhat reversed as the Americans thought that this would be in our interest to have a presence in Bermuda to defend our shores.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  And, in fact, although you've spoken quite a bit about it being a place where the U.S. could assist in some way, maybe short of joining the war – assisting convoys or whatever it might be – in fact, the base at St. David's wasn't fully constructed and wasn't… troops weren't fully sent or military wasn't fully sent for quite some time after the land was first expropriated.  You are aware of that?

WITNESS:


Yes but, I mean, look at the magnitude of the engineering challenge here.  You were literally creating land out of Castle Harbour, building runways, having to bring in virtually everything that was needed for that, you know, from Tarmacing-crews to people who built towers.  This wasn't going to happen overnight.  Even under the pressure of war, it wasn't going to happen overnight.  

SR. COUNSEL:

No, in fact it took the better part of two years.  Correct?

WITNESS:


Well, I…yes, you know the facts.  But it wasn't going to happen overnight.  The same was true in Canada.  We were building air bases to train Commonwealth pilots all over the place and they didn't sprout up overnight.  They were forcefully built, but it took time.

SR. COUNSEL:

Mm-hmm.  You talked about the St. David's process.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Mrs…

SR. COUNSEL:

Oh, sorry.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Counsel Milligan?

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes?

CHAIRWOMAN:

I just want to let you know we'll stop at a convenient point because it is time for Commissioners to take a break.  

SR. COUNSEL:

I apologize, yes.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

And have some lunch.

SR. COUNSEL:

We can do that now.  I'm a little longer than I anticipated.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Well, I'm not holding you.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Nothing is carved in stone.  But, give me an indication, please how much longer you're likely to be because, obviously, I have to say something to Dr. McDowall.

SR. COUNSEL:

Yes.  Probably another 45 minutes.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Forty-five.  Dr. McDowall, you've heard what Counsel has indicated.  It's likely that she's going to be another 45 minutes.  I'll say an hour.  

SR. COUNSEL:

Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:

And I thank you for your time, you know, because you were called at short notice, but we will resume at 1:30 pm, which is – I don't know what time it is there.  What time it is there now?

WITNESS:


I'm just past 11:00 o'clock in the morning.  You must be past noon.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Eleven, twelve.  So, it will be… 12:30 pm, your time.

WITNESS:


I will be back at 12:30 pm, then.

SR. COUNSEL:

Thank you very much.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Is that correct?  Thank you, Dr. McDowall.

WITNESS:


Thank you, all.

CHAIRWOMAN:

And Madame Counsel.  

WITNESS:


Can I, by the way, tune right back into this same meeting?  I don't have to get another call?
SR. COUNSEL:

Yes, apparently.  Yes.  I'm being told yes, you can.

WITNESS:


Thank you.

LUNCH BREAK
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